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PROCEEDINGS:
MR. ROBINSON:  Good evening, everyone.  It is beyond 6:30, so we will call to order.  Kay, do you want to run through the agenda review? 

MS. WALLIS:  Hello, and welcome to this December meeting of the Richmond Southeast Shoreline Area Community Advisory Group.  Thank you for being here.  I am Kay Wallis, and I am very pleased to be the facilitator for tonight's meeting.  

If you have not already, please help yourself to a golden colored agenda and other supplemental materials on the back table, and also help yourself to refreshments which we thank Brooks Street and Ms. Graves and an Anonymous donor for.  We are going to do a quick agenda review and then process review and then jump into the business at hand.  

Our agenda opens, as always, with the DTSC update followed by the Cherokee Simeon Ventures update and then the joint question and answer period so that questions either from the CAG or from the audience can go to those two parties.  

We'll then go on immediately to the Toxics Committee update, and that will be followed by the public comment period.  The break is occurring a little bit later in the agenda tonight.  And then after the break we will resume with the annual business of the CAG officer elections.  Then we will go into some final business, some final housekeeping, approval of meeting minutes, question slips, and final wrap up.  Are there any comments or questions, additions about the agenda? 

MR. ROBINSON:  Kay, one thing I would like to add to the end of the Toxics Committee update will be a number of speakers, Sherry, Michael Linsley, Paul Minault    sorry    Steve Linsley and then Steve Smith as well.

MS. WALLIS:  Okay.  And Dr. Esposito is kind of the facilitator for that portion.  I will count on you to make note of that.  And then Ms. Abbott? 

MS. ABBOTT:  I don't know where we want to put this, but we need an update on meeting room changes that will come in the next year, which we have some information about.  I also would like to discuss CAG membership briefly somewhere.  Sherry, I am not quite sure.  Do you want to help me out on this other item? 

MS. PADGETT:  Maybe it could be a sub item.

MS. WALLIS:  So two issues, one around a brief discussion about meeting place in the future and then also about memberships.  So where on the agenda would you like to have that?

MS. GRAVES:  I suggest after the elections.  Does that make sense to the other CAG members?  Okay.

MS. WALLIS:  So maybe as part of the wrap up discussion?  Okay.  I will make note of that, membership and location issues.  And Ms. Abbott, I will put your name next to that.  Any other questions, comments, issues around the agenda?  Yes.  Please, Mr. Kambe. 

MR. KAMBE:  That is okay.  We will probably not use more than two sentences.  We'll give the time to DTSC.

MS. WALLIS:  All right.  Thank you.  A couple of very quick process points.  As I mentioned before, my main role is to keep the group on task and on time.  And the agenda will certainly be an important tool to do that.  We have asked in the last several months that people keep their comments or questions, when they have them, to about two minutes, just so we can accomodate as many questions and comments as possible.  

We also have this action item list here so that if things come up that either need some kind of follow up or cannot be discussed sufficiently within the purview of tonight's agenda, we can be sure to capture them and create some kind of time line, and then the responsible party is going to make sure those things get followed up with.  There are some green slips, as always, on the tables for CAG members and in the back of the room for audience members.  This is so you can, just for yourself, summarize any question or comment you have.  Sometimes it helps to organize your thoughts.  And also, if you need to capture a question or comment that is not going to be addressed in tonight's meeting, you can do that and submit it to Ms. Graves, the CAG secretary.  And we will make sure that question or comment gets whatever follow up is appropriate.  

So we are trying to keep questions and comments to about two minutes.  We have an action item list and these green slips which are also a way to make an agenda request for a future meeting.  Don't let me forget that.  There is a sign up sheet in the back for people who might be new tonight if there is anyone here who wants to make sure they get on themailing list for future announcements of the CAG.  And I will also remind CAG members there should be a clipboard going around for your own sign up for tonight's meeting.  

So if there is not any thoughts or questions about the process we'll jump right in.  And I will ask Ms. Cook to give the DTSC update.

MS. COOK:  Okay.  The first item that I would like to bring up is The Department is reviewing the completion report for the PCB Removal Action Workplan under the Zeneca site.  And at last month's meetings I asked whether or not the CAG would be submitting comments, and you indicated yes.  So I am just trying to get an idea of what is your target date for doing that. 

DR. ESPOSITO:  Dorinda, what is our target date for doing that? 

MS. SHIPMAN:  You know, I will say by next Friday.  How about a week from Friday?  Will that work? 

MS. COOK:  That is fine.  I was trying to figure it out, trying to get an idea.  As you can see there are    additionally at the Zeneca site they were installing the soil gas wells on Lot Three.  They have actually installed the soil gas sampling on Lot One when the removal action took place.  Those results will be coming in in the next 30 days.  

The Scoping Assessment Workplan for the ecological risk assessment as it relates to the former chemical evaporation ponds has just come in.  We will be uploading that into the Envirostor public community involvement page.  And I will ask the same question again.  Dr. Esposito, will the CAG be providing comments on that document?  I know you have not seen it.

DR. ESPOSITO:  Which document? 

MS. COOK:  It is the last bullet item on the Zeneca site, the first page.  It is the Scoping Assessment Workplan for the ecological work assessment, the first page. 

DR. ESPOSITO:  Yes.  Yes, we will.  But since we haven't seen it...

MS. COOK:  I will try to get it uploaded, maybe tomorrow, but early next week at the latest.  I just wanted first to find out if you were interested in making comments.

DR. ESPOSITO:  Yes.  Yes.

MS. COOK:  The number of documents and other activities that will be coming in in the next 30 days.  Harborfront, our report is coming in from our contractor.  We are reviewing that report.  The UC Richmond Field Station current condition report    

DR. ESPOSITO:  Just arrived.

MS. COOK:  Well, I guess I know that there have been a number of notes.  I need to make sure everything is resolved in that issue.  Are you going to have it as a separate agenda item? 

MS. NAKASHIMA:  We can talk about it now.

MS. COOK:  We thought we had already given    there were two hard copies plus CDs of it as well, and it is available on the UC Webpage.  I know a saw a number of copies.   

MS. GRAVES:  It is not completely available on the website.  The document on the website is actually missing six of the    

MS. COOK:  You have the Webpage?

MS. GRAVES:  It is actually missing six of the appendices.

MS. NAKASHIMA:  They should all be there.

MS. PADGETT:  Did you access the actual document?  The document that says Appendix A through J, or something, is a 35 megabyte document.  And when it is downloaded it is only one appendix.  

MS. NAKASHIMA:  No.

MS. PADGETT:  You accessed it today?  So it's been corrected.  

MS. LADUKE:  I did, yeah.  And it should be    if you have problems again, send me an email.  But this afternoon it was working.

MS. PADGETT:  Part of the reason we wanted to follow the same practice we did with the draft    the prior draft from April of 2007 was that the community that accesses Envirostor has brought itself along and is looking for documents on the Envirostor website.  And DTSC made an exception to all of the rules previously.  DTSC has a rule that all documents be broken up into 10 megabyte or smaller sized documents for access to the public that has dial up connections.  And that makes it very difficult for some individuals who are trying to go through a document when it is all pieced up.  We have already had that discussion a few times here at the CAG.  And we know we can't make an exception with you.  

There was an exception made in this case for the prior document for the April 2007 document.  It was loaded on Envirostor, all 100 some odd megabytes of it, 108 megabytes.  So the question is can DTSC follow that same practice?  It was fantastic to be able to access it on the Envirostor just as it was accessible on the UC Richmond Field Station website.

MS. COOK:  I suspect that was before they put the 10 megabyte limit.  They actually used some of our projects as an example of why it doesn't work.

MS. PADGETT:  For a little drill down here on that subject, who should we contact to talk about the public's frustration with these piecemeal documents? 

MS. COOK:  You have already been speaking to Shannon Simalay already on this issue.  And she is the person that you bring it up to if you want to elevate up.  It comes to    do you want to it to go to Mercedes?  Last name is spelled A z a r, Mercedes.  That is the deputy director of the Office of External Affairs.  

MS. PADGETT:  That would be terrific.  You can see what we are after.  We are looking for a duplication of what had happened previously so the public isn't trying to find the UC Richmond Field Station website to get to a document relating to DTSC's actions with them.  So is DTSC going to load it in pieces? 

MS. COOK:  Yes.  It will be loaded in pieces.  It is just that my secretary is now handling    somebody else is on vacation, so she is handling three jobs right now, so she is a little overloaded on scanning.

MS. PADGETT:  Thank you.

MS. COOK:  I don't think there is anything that I need to add to the BioRad presentation we had last month.  Marina Bay, Sherry, I want to acknowledge the fact that we have received your email, but we didn't have enough time to respond to it.  So it will be part of next month's presentation.  

The Area T area we are still collecting the small amounts of free floating product.  So it is not very much but it still continues to be there.  The Department is continuing to work with the community association with regards to the land use restrictions, continuing to move forward on the five year review, and Marina Bay area and those types of activities.  

Liquid Gold Stege Property Pistol Range and Blair Landfill, first let me do one thing.  I would like to make a formal introduction to the CAG.  

MR. LEVY:  Would you like me to stand?

MS. COOK:  Yes, you can stand.  I would like to introduce you to Jim Levy.  He is with Union Pacific Railroad.  And he is the point person with regards to the remediation.  And this is Ms. Dodge.  She is with CH2M Hill, who is the contractor associated with this project.  I know that you may have questions because some of these were raised up during early November.  And because of some issues, we weren't able to answer those questions.  So we can answer those questions as part of the public comment period at that time well as well.  

Okay.  The Department has    we recognize there has been trespasser issues.  One of the documents that has been submitted to the Department is a security plan that is now under review to try to increase the surveillance and making sure that the site is adequately capped and posted as well as ensuring the trespassers don't have access.  I will let that go, and we will answer questions specifically to that part of it.  Okay.  And there are some other issues that deal with that.  I think that is all I have for my presentation.

MS. WALLIS:  I think we will give Cherokee their two sentences that they wanted to give, and then we will do the joint Q&A session.  

MR. KAMBE:  It turns out Barbara covered the material.

MS. WALLIS:  Zero sentences.  Thank you, Mr. Kambe.  So then we will move to the Q&A period.  We will take questions or comments for either representatives from DTSC or Cherokee Simeon from the CAG. 

MS. COOK:  I am also offering up Union Pacific as well, for any questions.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  Ms. Padgett? 

MS. PADGETT:  I have a few questions on the update.  The soil gas wells were installed and sampling began on Lot Three to support the Feasibility Study.

MS. COOK:  Right.

MS. PADGETT:  The CAG has yet to see a draft of the Feasibility Study and Remedial Action Workplan.  And as we read the plan to install the soil gas wells, I think there were 50 some odd of them, there was a reference to the Feasibility Study and Remedial Action Workplan.  And it is making it a little difficult for us to draw conclusions about how decisions are being made without having access to the document.  A similar reference was made in the Lot One PCB/VOC area document.  I think that was it.  Yes, I think there was a reference to the Feasibility Study in there.  So we are getting a little frustrated here.  And I am hoping you can help us out by letting us know when we will be getting access to the document.

MS. COOK:  Did I say 30 days to 45 days?  It depends on whether I am willing to give up my holidays to review the document.  30 to 45 days.  Okay.  And the purpose for these additional wells is the concept of looking at some additional pilot study that may be needed to address some of the VOCs that are on the property.

MS. PADGETT:  Okay.  I think we’re a little    we feel like we are left in the side room, standing outside, while these decisions are being made...  it’s that we don't understand how it came about that 58 additional wells would be put in to Lot Three to gather soil gas data without understanding who or what or how the decisions were made.  There is no information.

MS. COOK:  Well, there is information that you have seen as part of the groundwater testing, the soil testing, and some of the limited soil gas testing that's been done.  And that data tells    and people are making comments that we feel that some additional testing analysis must be done to evaluate viable treatment alternatives.  And as Dorinda can explain, pilot studies are commonly done under feasibility studies, and that information is what ends up being folded into a Feasibility Study to evaluate the viability of an alternative.

MS. PADGETT:  So we can    so we just got a little clue here that in the Feasibility Study one of the options is to do a pilot study.

MS. COOK:  No.  The pilot study is part of the Feasibility Study.  It’s not part of the final remedy.  But it is part of the information that will be folded into it, or maybe part of the remedy as well, it ends up being figured out what information is there.  But I really would like to remind you all this is not a document that is probably going to go out for public review, formal public review, for probably well over a year.  It’s just because of the aspect of   it that is going to be folded into probably some CEQA document that the parties will be doing with the City of Richmond. 

MS. PADGETT:  Okay.  Well now I am a little confused   I don't know if anybody else is.  To have a    it just seems as though    maybe I am just out to lunch here.  I don't understand what’s going on.  There’s a Feasibility Study and Remedial Action Workplan that was originally scheduled to be submitted back in April or May or June.  And it turns out it was indeed submitted.  And DTSC reviewed it, sent it back for some kind of, or a series of, rewrites, and we thought that we were going to have access to it to start evaluating it.  And it sounds   

MS. COOK:  The document was just handed to the staff in a CD today.

MS. PADGETT:  I see, well, that is information.  That is information.  That’s helpful.

MS. COOK:  Right.

MS. PADGETT:  You didn't share that before just now.   

MS. COOK:  Okay.  The document has been handed in, and we have 30 to 45 days to try to ensure that it is a document that doesn't have any major fatal flaws.

MS. PADGETT:  Okay.  So if it doesn't have fatal flaws, then there’s a possibility that we will see it in about a month or two?

MS. COOK:  Yes.

MS. PADGETT:  I don't want to appear to be confrontational.  We are all trying to do this to get along.  It's just… we’re a little… you can imagine how frustrated we are over seeing references to it and references to things that are being considered in it and other actions taking place as a result of it, and we’re just left out in the cold.

MS. SHIPMAN:  Barbara, would it be possible for the CAG to get, maybe next month, just an outline of the sampling and ongoing other treatability studies that may be going on, that they hadn't heard about previously? 

MS. COOK:  I think the only one that is there is evaluating the soil gas and other issues that are going on there as to whether or not some additional work needs to be done.  We'll see if we can add that to it.  Sherry had additional comments. 

MS. WALLIS:  Sherry and then Dr. Esposito.

MS. PADGETT:  Well, can you explain what a Scoping Assessment Workplan is?  We haven't seen that phrase before.

MS. COOK:  Way, way, way at the beginning of the process where you are evaluating what type of parameters you’re looking at, what type of    it is more of the toxicologists getting together, trying to figure out what they need to look at, what are the parameters of the issue.  It is basically one of the first stages of the process.

MS. PADGETT:  Can you compare it to a Current Conditions report? 

MS. COOK:  No.  I am looking at it more at a scoping assessment as part of a risk assessment.  It is laying out the parameters and the criteria that would go into the risk assessment.

MS. PADGETT:  So it’s not like a Current Conditions report? 

MS. COOK:  A Current Conditions report is evaluating what the current status of a piece of property is.  So it’s giving you a lot of historical information, it’s giving you a lot of other information.  The issue with regards to   you’re aware of the fact that a lot of sampling was done.  Some of that information may   Is that information in the scoping assessment?  This is just a workplan.  That’ll be in the workplan.  So this is just a discussion of what they want to do as part of the analysis of the risk assessment, and all of that data would actually be in the formal workplan. 

MS. PADGETT:  So there won't be a Current Conditions report on this part of the property?  It will just go from this Scoping Assessment Workplan into a risk assessment?

MS. COOK:  This is the   Am I mixing up properties?  This is the chemical evaporation ponds.

MS. PADGETT:  That’s right.

MS. COOK:  So the discussion is what they were used for, is  was  probably discussed in the Current Conditions report.  There was sampling that was done in those ponds that I don't have the data on, but the toxicologists will all get together with regards to trying to figure out all the stuff that has to go   laying out a workplan as to what needs to be done  as trying to put together the risk assessment.

MS. PADGETT:  Ok.  I have got one more.

DR. ESPOSITO:  I just had a general question to sort of, maybe a global issue.  Do we have any data on soil samples or groundwater samples or chemical or whatever contamination from any consultants with respect to the Zeneca site or its environs that we haven't seen?  Are there data sets we have not seen as yet that are complete samples taken, analyzed and are getting ready to be folded into other documents, is that where we are at? 

MS. COOK:  There is the one data set that I do not have, which is the chemical oxidation sampling data that was done.  Then there’s the soil gas sampling that is now occurring right now.  I am not aware of any other sampling data that is out there. 

MS. SHIPMAN:  The Lot One soil gas samples? 

MS. COOK:  Right, the soil gas for Lot One and Three.  The Lot One soil gas samples will be submitted within the next 30 days.

MR. MINAULT:  From the fresh water lagoons? 

MS. COOK:  Same thing.  Fresh water lagoon equals chemical evaporation pond, based on request of this CAG. 

DR. ESPOSITO:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. COOK:  Okay.

MS. PADGETT:  Was there someone else who had another question? 

MS. WALLIS:  I wanted to identify the speaker for the transcriptionist, Paul Minault. 

MS. PADGETT:  On the Union Pacific property    welcome to the Community Advisory Group.  

MR. LEVY:  Thank you.

MS. PADGETT:  You seem much more friendly.  We asked a question about the fencing of the property.  And we understand that there is a fence around part of the property.  You have oversight over the Blair Landfill as well?  

MR. LEVY:  Yes.

MS. PADGETT:  For the rest of the community and the Community Advisory Group, the Blair Landfill was originally close to 20 or 30 acres, and it has now shrunk down to about one acre.  So the area we’re talking about when we talk about the Blair Landfill is now a little less than an acre.  And the question we have is will that area be fenced and signed?  

MR. LEVY:  The entire property just submitted the plan to the Department.  It will be fenced, signed, and will have regular inspections for vandalism and will also have Union Pacific police going out weekly to inspect it to see if it there are vagrants out there. 

MS. PADGETT:  How soon will that happen?  

MR. LEVY:  We want to start this week.  

MS. DODGE (of CH2M Hill):  This week with DTSC and our project manager and the contractors for inspections.

MR. LEVY:  Basically this week.  

MS. DODGE (of CH2M Hill:  Tomorrow. 

MS. PADGETT:  Congratulations on such speedy response.  We appreciate it.  

MR. LEVY:  Sure.

MS. PADGETT:  And so the signs, do you know what they will say?  

MR. LEVY:  I am assuming that the signs will probably follow the standard language that DTSC wants, both in English and in Spanish, I am assuming, "Peligroso," standard language.

MS. PADGETT:  Thank you. 

MS. WALLIS:  Other questions or comments from the CAG for either DTSC or Cherokee Simeon before we open it up to the audience?  Ms. Abbott and then Mr. Schwab.   

MS. ABBOTT:  With regards to Area FM, is that area capped?

MS. COOK:  Is this in relation to Sherry's questions that she posed to us? 

MS. ABBOTT:  Yes.

MS. COOK:  Because I indicated we will respond to Sherry's question next month since we just got the question today.  We can answer the question, but if there is any other detailed issues I prefer to answer it next month.

MS. ABBOTT:  It is not a very detailed question.  

MS. TOTH:  It has one foot of clean soil.  This is Karen Toth, DTSC.  Back in about December 2005, January 2006, sometime in there, about a foot of soil was brought in because we knew the project was being delayed, so we wanted to make sure there was a clean material over it so they could stage equipment and other supplies for their other developments that were happening on Parcels F and H and some of those other parcels.

MS. ABBOTT:  Does that mean that it is capped?

MS. TOTH:  It is covered with a one-foot clean soil cap.  It is a temporary cap.  It is not the permanent final remedy.

MS. ABBOTT:  The reason I was asking, I guess, I was actually walking over there, I think in that area.  There isn't any fence or anything.  So I was just curious.

MS. WALLIS:  Question from Mr. Schwab? 

MR. SCHWAB:  This is for Mr. Levy and Ms. Dodge.  Again, thank you for being here today.  Welcome to the public process.  My question has to do with the    just the whole story about the property that you are in charge of.  Do you have any documentation that you could share with us soon that you could email us or a website that we could visit that would sort of tell us about your company's plans, concerns, stance on any of this, or can we invite you to give a presentation at some point so that we have more knowledge of what you are thinking of doing there?  

MR. LEVY:  Which part do you want me to answer first?

MR. SCHWAB:  I am very good at asking large questions.  

MR. LEVY:  There is a tremendous amount of documentation on the Stege Liquid Gold property going back twenty years at this point from when it was an NPL site.  I don't know how much is posted, if at all.

MS. COOK:  I am assuming most of it has been uploaded onto Envirostor.

MR. LEVY:  So in terms of future uses and our thoughts, the environmental group that I am working with is working with our law department and real estate department to figure out what we want to do with the property, quite honestly.  That is what we are doing right now, how do we plan the remediation of that site with a hopefully beneficial reuse.  And, quite honestly, we just don't know yet what that will be.  That is part of what we are trying to figure out.  And as for future presentations, yeah, we’d certainly be willing to come and make a presentation. 

MS. WALLIS:  Mr. Robinson?

MR. ROBINSON:  I had one more question along those same lines.  Liquid Gold was a federal Superfund, right?  Wasn't it?  

MR. LEVY:  Yes. 

MR. ROBINSON:  And it was delisted in '89?  

MR. LEVY:  No.  It was delisted somewhere in the '90s, mid '90s.  Maybe it was later than that, maybe close to 2000.  Actual remediation was in the mid '90s.  

MR. ROBINSON:  Was that an action that was brought about by a petition from your agency, your company, or was that an action by the federal government that    

MR. LEVY:  To delist?

MR. ROBINSON:  Yeah.

MR. LEVY:  We would have completed at that point the remediation required for the Liquid Gold property, and then the EPA would start that delisting, and then it would go through the federal register process.

MR. ROBINSON:  Okay.

MS. WALLIS:  So other questions for DTSC or Cherokee Simeon from either the CAG or the audience?

MS. PADGETT:  I have one more.  

MS. WALLIS:  All right.  So Ms. Padgett, and then we have a question from the audience.

MS. PADGETT:  This is for Barbara, for the UC Richmond Field Station.  The document that the University loaded on their website says in bright red, and it shows here on the front of the binder, that it is the final Current Conditions report.  Our question is whether it is, indeed, final and has it been accepted by DTSC as written or whether you will be making comments on this version and whether the Community Advisory Group will be given an opportunity to make comments on it as well.

MS. COOK:  You are free to make comments, and anything that fills a data gap would move into the next phase of the process, which is trying to define what problems are at the site and what needs to be done.  The whole purpose of the Current Conditions report is just to summarize the historical uses of the property, what work has been done in the past, and put it basically all in one report instead of the series of reports which have existed on this site.  

So it is just that that is all it is, is a summary document.  If you feel there is information that is missing, it can be used to either addend this report or be used as part of the next phase of the report which is the Remedial Investigation report.

MS. PADGETT:  Thank you.  And the next report being the Remedial Investigation report, will the Remedial Investigation report be done after more sampling, and will there be a sampling plan that is submitted as a result of the current condition report and all of the data gaps?

MS. COOK:  The answer to the last question is yes.  The Remedial Investigation report will not come in for a while because they have to finish defining what the problem is before they can actually finish that report.  But there will be a series of sampling reports, field reports that outline what that work is, and the data gap that needs to go on.

MS. PADGETT:  So if the Community Advisory Group submits comments that include more data gaps than are listed in this document, and if DTSC agrees with those data gaps, possibly, then, perhaps they might be included in the future sampling plans that are the basis for moving forward with the Remedial Investigation report?

MS. COOK:  Yes.

MS. PADGETT:  Thank you.

MS. WALLIS:  And members of the audience, please identify yourself.  

MR. SCHNEPF:  My name is Donald Schnepf. For the Union Pacific folk on the Bay Trail…  coming from the dog park going north, there’s a path that has been beaten toward the    toward your property, it looks like.  It is probably now about two foot wide.  In the past I have seen people bicycling in there, and I have also seen campers up on the property.  And police were there one time, and I haven't seen campers for a while, but the path narrowed down for a brief period with vegetation.  It is just a dirt path, and it crosses that little stream and then it turns north again.  So I just want to make you are aware of it that that’s there, for whatever it is worth.

MS. PADGETT:  Don, can you point to it on the map?

MS. COOK:  I am wondering if the map includes it.

MR. LEVY:  I think it is south of there.  

MR. SCHNEPF:  Back here a little bit.  It’s between the dog park and the 51st trailhead.  It’s easy to see if you are going north because it veers off at about a 35 to 40 degree angle.

MR. LEVY:  Okay.  I don't know what particular location you are talking about, but the intent of our security plan is to block those kind of access, fence it off at that point, and then have Union Pacific police actually patrol regularly on the whole site.

MR. SCHNEPF:  It actually goes more towards the Hoffman Marsh, but then it turns north.  And the other day I saw bird watchers in there.

MR. LEVY:  If you can give us a figure for the specific location so we can make sure that the folks doing the   

MR. SCHNEPF:  I would be happy to meet someone there.  I can give you my cell phone number. 

MR. LEVY:  If we could give you a figure of the site would you just mark it? 

MR. SCHNEPF:  Sure.  Be happy to.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  I saw another hand here, and please identify yourself. 

MS. BEGIN:  Claudette Begin from CUE.  A question about Richmond Field Station.  So now that there is this final Current Conditions report, I am just trying to get this clarified from what you said, Barbara.  Sorry, I lost track of you.

MS. COOK:  I keep moving. 

MS. BEGIN:  So the final Current Conditions report documents everything that has been investigated, surveyed, written about, et cetera, to date, correct?  But then you said that before the Remediation Investigation report they are going to have to figure out something.  So that is what I didn't understand.  So would I be correct in understanding that what is happening now that they know there are data gaps, and what they have to do is figure out how they were going to find out how to fill those data gaps?  Is that the thing?  I am trying to understand the process.

MS. COOK:  The purpose of the current condition report is just to summarize everything that's been done in the past and what information is there.  And what happened as part of that is there are areas where, clearly, they don't have any groundwater sampling, they don’t have maybe soil sampling in this location, this location  based on historical uses of the property.  So now what is going to be submitted the first thing, is the soil sampling plan that outlines how they are going to collect the information that has been identified as data gaps.  So they will go out and collect the samples, whether it is soil, soil gas, groundwater, surface water, and then take that information to fill in what needs to be done.

MS. BEGIN:  Does the Current Conditions report or something else designate, like, how much sampling they need to do, how thorough they need to investigate this area or that area? 

MS. COOK:  The purpose of this is just to outline the data gaps and then the next phase is to figure out how you are going to fill it.  So the number of samples, where they were going to sample, what type of samples and what they are going to test for will actually be in the soil sampling plan. 

MS. BEGIN:  That is before or after the Remediation Investigation? 

MS. COOK:  We have the current condition report.  Then there will be a series of sampling events to go out there and fill in these data gaps.  And the Remedial Investigation report will summarize all of the work that has been done plus any additional information that comes up that might be different than the current condition report.  It may summarize briefly the information that is in the current condition report.  So it summarizes all that information into one report.   

MS. BEGIN:  Thank you.

MS. WALLIS:  Another question from the audience.  

MR. MINAULT:  Paul Minault.  I'm sorry.  I didn't catch when you said the data from the chemical oxidation pond.  I am not familiar with that new name.  Can you tell me again when that will be available?  

MS. COOK:  Right now they are just doing the scoping assessments.  The toxicologists will have to get together to agree about what is to be done.  And then the workplan would be submitted there.  I will have a better idea probably at the January meeting.  

MR. MINAULT:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. COOK:  Did Eric have a question? 

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  No question?  All right.  Ms. Padgett, then I will ask the Chair what you would like to do about extending this period or moving on.

MS. PADGETT:  As a follow up to that last question, the Scoping Assessment Workplan for the ecological risk assessment for the former chemical evaporation ponds was submitted by the responsible parties to DTSC.  Did I hear earlier that the CAG will have access to that data soon?

MS. COOK:  I said that I would ask to have that document uploaded into Envirostor so you would see that document.  The actual sampling data will probably be the next document that comes after that.

MS. PADGETT:  I see.  So I misunderstood.  This Scoping Assessment Workplan will not include the sampling data that was gathered about a year ago?

MS. COOK:  That is correct.  But it will be in the next document after that.

MS. PADGETT:  So   

MS. COOK:  The scoping is just to scope it.  The actual workplan hasn't been submitted yet.

MS. PADGETT:  Okay.  Does DTSC    has DTSC seen the sampling results? 

MS. COOK:  Seen, yes.  Actually have them, no.

MS. PADGETT:  When will the CAG    I think you just answered it.  So there is another delay in the Community Advisory Group getting access to sampling data that was gathered about a year ago? 

MS. COOK:  I don't have the data, so I can't give you the data.  So, you know, as I indicated, I will let you know when the next actual workplan will be submitted at the next meeting which will give you an idea of when that data would be submitted.

MR. ROBINSON:  Barbara, I would like to work backwards from the workplan.  The workplan is based on the risk, and the risk is based on the scoping, correct?  Is that   

MS. COOK:  No.  I don't think so, actually, Joe.  I will let Michelle answer that part.  But I think the risk assessment is    

MR. ROBINSON:  My real question is when is the CAG going to have any time to kind of coalesce all the information, put it together, and see what our feelings are about the workplan.  

DR. KING:  I just want to clarify.  Barbara is using the words "workplan" and "scoping assessment", somewhat interchangeably.  This is a Scoping Assessment Workplan.  The scoping assessment is looking at what ecological populations will be evaluated in the risk assessment.  And this workplan is very general.  It really has nothing to do with the data that are out there.  That scoping assessment itself will take the data so you have a sense of what chemicals of concern are.  And you look at that and you want to look at these pathways and insects and up the food chain with terrestial critters and aquatic critters.  So the Scoping Assessment Workplan, as you will see when you read it, there is really not a lot of site specific detailed information.  That will come in the actual scoping assessment itself which will follow.  And that will have the data in it.  And then from the scoping assessment, then that leads ultimately into the actual ecological risk assessment.  It is a more complicated process going through the ecological risk assessment compared to human health.

MR. ROBINSON:  Thank you.  One question on that.  In a CEQA document like an EIR, there would be a mandatory finding of significance.  Is there a similar finding requirement in your documentation in this kind of a process?

MS. COOK:  I think we are mixing two processes.  

MR. ROBINSON:  I know    

MS. COOK:  I also have to have a CEQA document in addition.  So this actually ends up being a document that feeds into the decision as to whether or not it is of mandatory significance or not.  So this is the    this is the data information that would go into making that assessment.

MS. WALLIS:  Ms. Graves has a comment or question. 

MS. GRAVES:  I guess for me to hear that there is data, even though it hasn't been submitted to DTSC, but it's been a year, and DTSC has seen it.  It hasn't been submitted, but it just    from the CAG's, or from my perspective, I won't speak for the CAG, but it just seems like it is a way of keeping the public from seeing data that we are very interested in seeing.  We are interested in seeing the soil samples and all of the others because we want to see what pesticides and other things are being found.  And it just gives the perception at this point   I just wanted to make that comment.

MS. COOK:  I understand.  But I can't provide data I don't have.  Okay.  That is where we are at.

MS. WALLIS:  Final question from the audience, and please identify yourself.  

MR. TEADERMAN:  I am Stan Teaderman with Allied Propane Corporation.  I know we have talked about this issue before.  And let me put this into more of a closer proprietary interest.  We purchased our property in 1967.  You may have heard some of this before, but it is time that the public and CAG hears it.  We purchased this property, having gone through the City of Richmond, having the blessing of the City fathers and the zoning and the application by which we purchased the property.  

At the time we purchased the property those chemical evaporation ponds    not upper lagoons, not oxidation ponds    chemical evaporation ponds that were the repository of all of the materials that came out of the Stauffer plant, were right adjacent to our property.  Adjacent.  

We were told at the time that we purchased those properties that those were nothing more than water holding ponds for processing.  It wasn't until several years later we were told that these were chemical evaporation ponds, which was fine at that time because we really didn't know the difference.  

We continued to operate our business over a number of years.  And as we purchased the property, it became very evident to us that we needed some more for expansion, so we purchased properties that were contiguous to this original property, going back to the southernmost extremity of South 51st and South 50th Street at the end of the Seaport block.  

At the time that we got ready to expand and put in a building, and having had a wonderful relationship with the Stauffer Chemical management people, I told them that we were in the process of building a 12,000 square foot building that was going to be portioned on the very south portion of that property.  

And the property, as we know, and Barbara, you and Lynn and others from DTSC that have been out there, and those properties for 47th, 48th, 49th, 50th through 51st Street would flood from that little makeshift ditch in front of the levies on both those ponds on the most westerly and the most easterly.  The most easterly pond is completely contiguous to our property.  And when we told the Stauffer people that we were in the process of expanding our facility, and the reason we did that is because half of our property, a whole block, would flood, it would flood from the back portion of the Seaport ditch on the levy of that chemical evaporation pond halfway up that block.  We could not get access to our property.  

So when we got ready to do that, I said to the Stauffer people, "Listen, you guys have been really good.  We have done a lot of things together.  But in order for us to build this building it is going to be necessary for us to bring in additional materials to raise the elevation because we can't get into that property when it rains."

MS. WALLIS:  I am sorry to interrupt.  

MR. TEADERMAN:  I am getting there, but this is important.  If you could, could I have another minute? 

MS. WALLIS:  If you could get in the next minute to the question or point, that would be helpful.

MR. TEADERMAN:  I think it is an integral part of the questions that we have been asking Barbara Cook and Lynn Nakashima of DTSC now for about 15 minutes.  And we haven't yet gotten a straight answer.  I’m trying   I have a building   

MR. ROBINSON:  Stan, the point is we don't want to divide your subject into two different segments.  

MR. TEADERMAN:  The question here is that the reason that when we built that building, Stauffer said, "Listen, if you are going to increase the elevation of that building and the water is going to flood, we don't know what to do."  

I said, "Well, somebody is going to have to do something to relieve this water."  They came back in two weeks and said, "Listen, what we would like to pose is this.  We would like you to consider allowing us to provide you an easement.  And you will be able to then build your building on the very southerly part that allows you a 25 foot easement.  But as a result of that, we don't ever want anybody in that ditch.  We don't ever want anybody in that pond."

And it was that    it was before that we found that was a chemical evaporation pond.  We know that’s a hot situation.  I have been given proprietary information by the Stauffer people and Mr. Kambe and his people and Cherokee and Zeneca and everybody else knows that.  Now, listen, this is immediately adjacent to my property.  I am in the process of a negotiation that is ending up into a terrible lawsuit.  

Now we have talked about other people here in this room that have had significant depreciations in values as it relates to these toxic situations.  I am telling you as it relates to my corporation, to our property, we want to be something positive here.  But Barbara, we have asked, and I know you have a lot of governmental requirements by which everybody is here    we are given the privilege of being a part of this.  

We have been asking, as individuals    I have shared a walk with Lynn Nakashima and some of her people.  We know exactly what this thing is.  We have tried to keep this underneath the radar.  We have a cloud of devaluation and toxic materials that we are all living with now.  And to suggest the fact    you heard me a couple of months ago    to suggest the fact that any one of these businesses in the Harborfront Tract that would contemplate selling their business and their property, with or without an appraisal, they are not going to get a clean title on it.  

And my situation is, I’m contiguous to that pond.  I’m contiguous to that ditch.  I have got issues that are greater than just the area of wondering if we are going to have some of these areas    

MS. WALLIS:  I need to ask you to    

MR. TEADERMAN:  We would like to ask your consideration to release these findings to the CAG.  Thank you, and I appreciate having the extra time.

MS. WALLIS:  Response or shall we    

MS. COOK:  As I stated earlier, I would release the data if I had it.  I do not have it.  So you know, it is not something that I can release if I do not have it.

MS. WALLIS:  Dr. Esposito, and then I’ll need to ask about allocating extra time to the discussion.

DR. ESPOSITO:  I think the question that has been posed is very reasonable.  And I think the answer that we have received from Barbara Cook is very clear.  You have seen these data, but these data were not given to you.  That is to say, apparently you were in a room with these data, the data left and    

MS. COOK:  The data left, and I didn't get a copy.

DR. ESPOSITO:  The question is who generated the data, what company? 

MS. COOK:  Cherokee.   

DR. ESPOSITO:  Cherokee.  Good.  So I think that as a matter of collegiality you should address your question to Cherokee to see those data.  I am sure it is in their interest as well as yours to share it with you.

MS. WALLIS:  I saw a couple more hands in response.  And I wanted to ask about officially extending this Q&A time period for a certain amount of time.  We are about 15 minutes over on the agenda.

MR. ROBINSON:  Does anyone want to make a motion on that? 

MS. WALLIS:  To allow additional discussion now.  We have also the Toxics Committee time period that we are eating into.

MS. ABBOTT:  Three minutes.  

MR. LINSLEY:  Second.  

MR. ROBINSON  All in favor?  Any opposed? 

MS. WALLIS:  So in that three minutes I saw hands from Ms. Padgett, Ms. Abbott and    so that would be about one minute each.  And Mr. Blum. 

MS. PADGETT:  Would it be possible for DTSC to request the data, the sampling data, and have Cherokee submit it, and then DTSC post it online? 

MS. COOK:  We can go back and ask for it and see what we can do.  I mean, it is a formal process of requesting the information.

MS. PADGETT:  I see.  And it would seem like it is a reasonable request because the data is a year old.  Thank you.

MS. WALLIS:  Ms. Abbott? 

MS. ABBOTT:  It is okay.  Sherry already commented.

MS. WALLIS:  Mr. Blum? 

MR. BLUM:  Yes.  Just   should we write a letter to DTSC under the CAG cover requesting that we request the information?  I move that we do that.

DR. ESPOSITO:  Second.

MR. BLUM:  All in favor? 

MR. ROBINSON:  All in favor?  All opposed?  Motion passes.

MS. WALLIS:  Would you like that recorded as an action item? 

MR. ROBINSON:  Please.

DR. ESPOSITO:  I think it should come from the Executive Committee.

MS. WALLIS:  How would you like it summarized? 

MR. ROBINSON:  Letter to DTSC regarding the chemical evaporation pond data.

MS. WALLIS:  Requesting chemical evaporation data.  That is clear enough.  And the timeframe for getting that done? 

MR. ROBINSON:  End of next week.

MS. WALLIS:  So that would be the 19th? 

MR. ROBINSON:  12/19.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  I am pretty sure that used up the additional three minutes.  It is the pleasure of the group to move on to the Toxics Committee update?  All right.  That's what we will do.  Dr. Esposito? 

DR. ESPOSITO:  Good evening.  We have actually a rather lengthy Toxics Committee update this evening.  We are going to hear from Dorinda and from Sherry Padgett, Dorinda Shipman, then Sherry Padgett and also Steve Linsley.  And I am going to make some brief comments about the issue of the radiological assessment of the Zeneca Stauffer site.  

You have in the handouts a letter that was written by the Toxics Committee to Gary Butner, who is the chief of Radiological Services, in response to his concurrence that with the radiological consultants for the responsible parties that sufficient radiological work had been done.  

At the Toxics Committee meeting of last month, we discussed the fact that we felt    we continue to believe that this study has not been completed appropriately and that to achieve closure is premature.  I am not going to read to you or even try to outline the contents of that five page letter because it recounts the entire history behind the study of the radiological issues at the site.  But I want to point out to you that one of our major concerns is that Mr. Butner never reviewed the radiological data that were presented by Weiss Associates for the Harborfront Tract business area, for Booker T. Anderson Park, or for the 45th Street plume area.  

He reviewed only the data that were collected on the Zeneca Stauffer site.  And those are ten documents.  We were very interested in the data that were collected by Weiss Associates for DTSC because they provided background information on the concentration of radiological contaminants in the neighborhood of the Zeneca Stauffer site.  And we found, much to our satisfaction, that at that Harborfront site and at Booker T. Anderson Park the background levels of Uranium 238 and Radium 236 are, in fact, in the soil and were about half of what they are for the rest of the United States.  So we live in an area which is actually below average in that respect.  That is a good thing.  

Now, when we compared the data for the background to the data for the Zeneca Stauffer site, what we found is as follows.  One of the soil samples    it is from Lot Three -20 or R-14, depending on which table you look at, has a value that is six times background for Radium 226 compared to the environs.  It is not    it doesn't exceed the federal guideline, but it is six times higher than what is normal.  Also we find that the cinders are about two times higher in radioactive content than what is normal for background in this area.  Now why should that matter?  Well, it matters because we know that ionizing radiation, there is no dose of it which is harmless.  That was the Bio report, Biological Effects of Ionizing Radiation, National Academy of Sciences, 1995, 2005.  

Again, there is no harmless dose.  And there is enormous variability in the human population in terms of sensitivity to ionizing radiation.  Now since we live in the East Bay, I want to give you a concrete example.  The genes that are important for surviving, for not becoming ill from ionizing radiation are those that repair the damage that Xrays do to DNA.  

Well, in the Bay Area, we are living in a hot spot for breast cancer.  The incidence is about one in six to one in eight.  There are the sporadic cases and there are the heritable cases, that is, with a family history of breast cancer.  The genes that govern breast cancer in humans are Breast Cancer 1 and Breast Cancer 2.  Either one of them will result in loss of the ability to do    of that gene to do its work which results in hereditary breast cancer.  

Guess what those mutations are?  They are defects in the ability to repair the damage done by ionizing radiation and similar chemicals.  And they were known as radiation repair genes in lower organisms long before they were ever recognized as breast cancer genes in humans.  So our reason for being rather particular about ionizing radiation and being interested in background levels is because we know very well there is no harmless dose, and we have to live with background, but we don't have to live with industrial contamination.  

So I am not going to say anything more about our letter to Mr. Butner other than the fact that we have indicated four items we would like taken care of in addition to revisiting the wells at the Harborfront Tract, because one of them showed 126 Picocuries per liter of Uranium 238, which may be a mistake, but we need to know because, in point of fact, that well is on Stan Teaderman's property, and he would like to be able to tell a real estate customer that was a mistake, or it is real, one or the other.  

So we need to know that answer.  And those are the reasons why we do not agree that this is the time for closure.  This is the time for doing it once and for all.  There will be no quarterly review of the radiological data content of soil and water at this site.  

This is going to be once and for all, so let's do it right.  This is in the interest of everyone, especially the responsible parties and everyone who has to live around there.  Thank you.  Now we will move on.  

Dorinda, I will ask you to talk about the VOC, and then we will open it to questions from the CAG and at the end of everyone's presentations. 

MS. SHIPMAN:  Thanks, Michael.  The Technical Support Committee completed an initial review of the Lot One VOC/PCB completion report.  And the main concerns that we had were related to evaluation of the soil gas data that was recently collected and reference to a groundwater treatability study.  

And, you know, I think I briefly talked to Michelle just before the meeting, and it sounds like the reference to a planned treatable study was really referencing the treatability study that was initially planned for the area and was not carried out due to the high chrome that was there, and the chemistry wasn't going to work for the proposed alternative.  

And the other question, Michelle explained that the soil gas data would be compared to the soil gas cleanup levels that were stated in the RAW, or the Remedial Action Workplan.  And the data would be sent to DTSC for review prior to being submitted for public review.  So they would compare the data to see if any of them are above cleanup levels before looking at evaluating the data to see what the cause might be for soil gas concentrations that exceeded the cleanup levels.  

So those were the main concerns we had, but we have other comments that we’ll summarize, and as we said earlier, we will submit to DTSC a week from tomorrow if not before.

DR. ESPOSITO:  I think now we are going to have a talk from Sherry Padgett, who is going to talk out of the box again.

MS. PADGETT:  The Toxics Committee logo is a box that signifies all of the regulations that our regulators have to live with and we do too, as the public.  And we have an "out of the box" logo that suggests not that our regulators step outside those regulations but that they think outside the comfort zone of the regulations that they use so often and maybe find some other ways to practice their oversight.  

Tonight we are going to continue the series that we had on the Marina Bay site.  If you recall, there are 10 or 11    10, I think, locations where hazardous substances are buried or still remain on property uncapped within the Marina Bay area.  And we are going to go through all of them that I know of.  And there are a few others that are within some developed areas, and that would be a future presentation.  

So here we have the aerial Google view of Marina Bay, and the perimeter is about like so.  And we physically, tonight, are sitting right here in the temporary City Hall, in this area, south of where we are about to talk about.  This is a drawing of the Marina Bay buried hazardous materials area.  Most of them are deed restricted.  This one does not have a deed restriction on it yet, but almost all of these others do.  

And we are going to go through them one by one starting here in this area, moving around in a circular pattern like so.  The Marina Bay    we will go through an aerial overviews, and then we will come back to the details of them.  So this is just a quick run through.  The Marina Bay hazardous material areas are here just south of the building we are in tonight.  So we are sitting right about here, and just south of this building is the West Shore parcel.  There is no cap.  There are areas where there are mounded hazardous materials waiting yet to be remediated.  

And another area under the pavement here that goes all the way out to the turnaround.  So under Marina Way south we have hazardous substances that have been capped by the pavement.  We will get into more details in a few minutes.

We are sitting right here in this building.  And across the street in the harbor parking lot is Area E is contaminated soil that was bought up from Area BB when Marina Bay was first being developed.  This is Area BB, this development here.  This is area, I think, AA on this side.  This is Area BB.  So to go back, the material that is buried here came from Area BB when the site was first being remediated.

Another location where buried hazardous materials are located under the pavement is out here in Regatta Boulevard.  The Richmond temporary police department is located here, and out in the pavement is some more buried hazardous materials.  We have hazardous materials covered by the tennis courts out here.  This is lead that was moved from an area out on the Promontory.  And there is kind of a concentration of hazardous materials out here in this little peninsula.  We have Shimada Park, Area B, Vincent Park, Peninsula Drive, and Area T.  

So to go into a few more details, this West shore parcel that doesn't have a cap and the Marina Way South area that is just south of the building where we are tonight and right here at the back door of the port building, there is no    there is no deed restriction on this area.  

I talked to Karen briefly before the meeting tonight, and she said that plans are still in    plans have still not been made on how and when this remediation is going to take place.  The developer hasn't figured out what they were going to do with the property.  So the property has not been deed restricted, and it is just sitting there with the hazardous materials.  

This area with the road pavement cap is known as the Marina Way South Parcel D1, right here and Parcel D2, this area here.  It is made of 1.1 acres in two separate areas of metal bearing soil.  And they are separated by about six feet.  And all or a portion of the subsurface of the soils within five feet of the surface contain hazardous substances which include lead at significant concentrations.  And it appears to have been soil that was relocated from another part of Marina Bay and put out into the street covered with four inches of class two aggregate and four and a half inches of asphalt.  

And the Richmond Redevelopment Agency has responsibility for the operation and maintenance of that cap as part of an agreement between them and DTSC.  It is a similar situation with the Harbor Boat Launch Parking Area E.  Here is the legal drawing of the area.  This is Marina Way right along here, 1500 cubic yards in the launch ramp parking area located on the northeast corner of Hall Avenue.  It is a repository of contaminated lead from Area BB.  

And what I found interesting in the deed restriction was something that we, as a community advisory group, are already finding.  When decisions are made or when there are certain things set up in deed restrictions    this one was done in December of 1991.  The wording in it says, "The property shall be posted with a bilingual sign in English and Spanish stating that no grading, excavation, or building activities can occur on the property without written permission of the Department," which is DTSC and the Richmond Redevelopment Agency.  

I didn't have time before it got dark tonight to go over and see if those signs exist.  It would have been interesting to see if they do.  Here we are, 17 years after the deed restriction is put into place, and who knows whether that exists today.  Area FM is just to the west of Salute restaurant in Marina Bay.  It is made of 4.4 acres within the North shore.  It has total petroleum hydrocarbons, TPH, polynuclear hydrocarbons, PNHs, and lead in the soil under portions of the property.  

And there is a Remedial Action Workplan and negative declaration that were approved by DTSC in May of 1993 that includes installing and maintaining a temporary one foot dirt cap over the entire property.  And that    the final cap was supposed to be installed about two years ago now, but the developer has not figured out how they can make this work and be financially feasible.  So the property remains as it is.  And Tarnel, you talked earlier about being out there and walking near it.  I believe the property is fenced.  I don't think it is signed, but I am pretty sure it does have a chain link fence around it.

MS. ABBOTT:  I think this is a different area than what I referenced.

MS. PADGETT:  The buried hazardous materials at Regatta Boulevard are out here in the street.  Here is the legal drawing of the area here.  Its petroleum hydrocarbons and lead remain in the soil under the property and it is    the cap is overseen by the Richmond Redevelopment Agency, and it contains 5500 square feet or a little over 1/10th of an acre.  

The areas we are going to go through now are out here in the peninsula of Marina Bay.  The first we have gone through before, Shimada Park.  And what is very interesting about this one now is it is three acres bounded on the north by the Marina Shore residences and a vacant lot.  What is interesting about it is that we now have, as part of the five year review, more samples being taken right here at the fence line of these homes.  So this is Shimada Park looking out towards San Francisco and the original soil gas sampling that was taken out here.  I guess they found something that caused DTSC to request more samples be taken closer in to these houses along the west side of Shimada Park.

So going back, petroleum hydrocarbons and lead remain in the soil and under portions of the property.  And it's been encapsulated with two feet of clean soil.  We didn't hear tonight what the status is of those samples and where we are headed.  Perhaps if there is time Karen could give us an update of what those samples found.  This is a picture of the Bay Trail looking west along the Shoreline.  And the arrow is right where Shimada Park is on the Bay Trail.

MR. ROBINSON:  Sherry, on that bottom photo there, did that migrate in a plume to that area, or was that the original manufacturing source? 

MS. PADGETT:  In this area?  I believe those hydrocarbons were dumped and buried out here.

MR. ROBINSON:  Okay.

MS. PADGETT:  But I can't be certain of that.  If I remember from reading the material on the history of this    of Shimada Park and the other areas, a lot of the contaminated soil in the areas where homes were going to be built was scraped up    scooped up and buried out here in these different parcels that are now capped over.  And I am not certain about the hydrocarbons, but I am pretty sure that is the case with the lead.  And, Karen, I am sure, can straighten us out on that if I am wrong.

Vincent Park is located down at the end of the Peninsula.  It is six acres.  And it has petroleum hydrocarbons and lead that remain under the soil that is comprised of two separate areas.  And I think everyone might remember we had already been through this.  It is a cap that consists of two feet of clean soil.  

Area V is one acre.  It has grass on the top of it.  It has now been weeded as part of the current maintenance.  And we understand from the interim report there is some erosion of the cap down here at this end.  There is going to be some maintenance of that.  Total petroleum hydrocarbons and lead remain in the soil.  And the Richmond Redevelopment Agency oversees the maintenance of the cap.  

Peninsula Drive has two areas where materials have been buried under the pavement.  Here is one section of it, and it is recorded as Area T.  And the other section is here in the middle of the street.  Peninsula Drive has lead at significant concentrations that remain in the soil under portions of the property.  All or a portion of the subsurface soils within five feet of the surface of the property contain hazardous substances.  

Area T, you have heard some discussion here at the Community Advisory Group over the last year and a half on   and I think it is in an update tonight as they are continuing to sponge out the hydrocarbons, I think, that    the petroleum hydrocarbons and lead that remain in the soil.  But they are continuing to soak it up and try to contain the plume that is out there.  And that is the end of this little show.  So I think Steve is next.

DR. ESPOSITO:  Thank you, Sherry.  Now we have Steve Linsley.  

MR. LINSLEY:  I was asked to reprise a little toxics tour about a year and a half ot two ago.  And so I am going to work off this map over here to do that since I didn't bring any nice pictures like Sherry.  And we are just going to look at the general ideas to get a picture of some of the other parts of the 'hood that Sherry didn't talk about at Zeneca.  And we’re going to start in the area over to the east and work west.  

So I think you have heard about the Liquid Gold site tonight being on the Union Pacific property up here    press it harder?  Okay.  Well, I can see this, but I guess nobody else can.  It is right in here.  Everybody see that.

MS. WALLIS:  I think it is because you are so close.  

MR. LINSLEY:  I am too close?  Is that better?  Okay.  So this area used to be a storage area for all sorts of hazardous wastes that were being, supposedly, disposed elsewhere including PCBs, a number of toxic metals, a number of volatile organic compounds and various fuels.  And it has mostly been capped.  

Then just near there is this pistol range, also on the same piece of property, which contains a little bit of concentrated lead from the bullets that were used.  Then all surrounding this area is Blair Landfill which, like Sherry said, used to encompass something like over 20 acres, but now it is just referred to as a single acre.  Where things that were disposed from Stauffer Chemicals and some of the other neighbors.  

This is the Southeast property or parcel, as it is called, of Zeneca, which was also used as a dumping area.  And that has recently been determined to have excessive amounts of toxic metals like zinc, copper, arsenic which are found pretty much all over the rest of the Zeneca site, but also cadmium, mercury, thallium, which aren't so common.  And it has also got a lot of the pesticides, dieldrin, chlordane, and those are banned toxic chlorinated pesticides, and then also the breakdown products of DDT, the pesticide that was responsible for birds being unable to reproduce because their eggs were too thin.  

So then moving through the Harborfront Tract here, there is a piece of property here that was referred to earlier this evening, the Pacific Hard Chrome at 51st and Montgomery which had Chromium Six, also known as hexavalent chrome, which is the material that was giving people cancers in the movie Erin Brocovich, which some of you may have seen.  That is in the soil and groundwater there, that is being, I guess, assessed now.  

Also this area along the Harborfront Tract, there are plumes which probably are coming from the Zeneca site with volatile organic chemicals like benzene, vinyl chloride, trichloroethylene, also called TCE, perchloroethylene, also called PCE, and various other chlorinated hydrocarbons.  We don't really know very well the extent of those in the groundwater, but there is some sort of a plume there.  

Also there is a plume going off this direction from the Zeneca property into the UC Field Station property.  This contains probably the same sorts of things that have just been remediated from this part of Lot One, possibly PCBs, but more likely trichloroethylene, perchloroethylene, dichloroethylene    dichloroethane, vinyl chloride, chlorobenzene, things like that.  There is also arsenic up in this area here which has been fairly well widespread in this particular area, everywhere around Zeneca in the soil, in the groundwater.  Some of that was just having to be removed recently from the UC property here.  

There was a wood preservation lab down here that had a number of metals in it.  Some metals used in wood preservative are copper, chromium and arsenic.  Those might be there.  Also the most active ingredients in creosote, which includes toxics like pentachlorophenol and possibly a contaminant in the manufacture of pentachlorophenol, dioxin, might be in that area there.  Although the amount of sampling for constituents on the property has been very minimal so far.  

In East Stege Marsh and West Stege Marsh, pretty much everything that was up-gradient from that has pretty much ended up in those places also, including metals, pesticides, acids, PCBs.  Offshore there are a lot of unassessed areas out here on the mud flats.  And this is a big question mark right now, a data gap.  

The PCBs at the base of Meeker Slough here, we are unclear where exactly they came from, but PG&E used to have a big operation up here which has since moved over to South Marina Parkway.  But this was an area where they still had a lot of PCBs and transformers.  So it is possible some of that got down into the UC property also.  

UC bought their property from California Cap Company which had a mercury fulminate plant in this area so there is a lot of mercury associated and heavy metals still on the UC property around this area.  BioRad, which was discussed earlier, is over here on Regatta Boulevard.  They had a lot of chloroform which got into the groundwater and the soil.  

The area that Sherry talked about, Marina Bay, used to be Kaiser shipyard.  The reason all those hydrocarbons and lead got in there is because they did a lot of degreasing using hydrocarbon solvents, they did a lot of painting using lead paint, and they had a lot of fuels, some of which contained hydrocarbon; some contained lead.  And they were using those for just about everything in the war effort in the era of Rosie the Riveter, and some of that, as you hear, is still to be found there.

The area over here at one time apparently used to be part of some sort of a complex, a chemical terminal or something like that.  I don't know personally any of the chemicals involved there.  The area up here, it used to be a trucking terminal that hauled a lot of solvents, chlorinated and fuel type solvents.  And I don't know what the status of any of the characterization of that site is.  It was called Arrow Transportation and Widing Transportation before that.  

Across the street from that used to be Richmond Plating.  That is an area that was just recently remediated.  Again, had a lot of heavy metals there, cyanide, trichlorethane and trichloroethyline, some of which probably now have been completely remediated.  

There is an area over here on Wright Avenue, which used to have a whole lot of zinc and lead.  It was called Summer Del Caribe or Summer Chemical.  And that's been cleaned up because it was a Superfund site.  And I believe it is no longer a problem.  

There was also a Superfund site along the channel here.  It is called the United Heckathorn.  You have a lot of DDT, which got into the sediments at the bottom of the channel, also in the soil here.  And that has been cleaned and capped, and I don't know if there is any more of that left over there.  But this just gives a brief fly over of some of the different other areas and contaminants in this whole area around Zeneca.  

So you see that the whole Richmond southeast shoreline area does take a lot of work by DTSC, and that is why the CAG is here.  Thank you.

MR. ROBINSON:  Steve, I have a question for you.  This area out here, this area out here, you say that the materials here moved down-gradient into the marsh and then into the mud flats here? 

MR. LINSLEY:  Presumably, yes. 

MR. ROBINSON:  Do we know who owns this area here?  Sherry, go ahead.

MS. PADGETT:  The area    the area    60 acres right here is owned by UC.  And if you    if you look at the map that Tarnel sent out earlier in the week from the 1950s, there was a plan by the City of Richmond to fill this entire area in with dirt.  And there was to be a big airport out here and part of the harbor.  And so we think that because the University    possibly because the University purchased the property in the 50s, maybe that's why they purchased the property out into the Bay.  But 60 acres south of the Bay Trail is owned by the University.  And then this area over here is unknown title.  I don't know that a title search has been done on it.  The Zeneca property, Zeneca Cherokee property begins right at the Bay Trail.  And we don't know if Union Pacific owns anything south of the Bay Trail.

MR. ROBINSON:  I have one more question.  This area right in here, you said was polluted.  I wasn't    I didn't follow all of the chemicals that you mentioned, but I was wondering if we know when these pollutants were deposited there.  Was it during the Zeneca cleanup or was it from the Stauffer operations? 

MR. LINSLEY:  We don't actually know that there was a definite thing.  We are just saying there is likely a plume that is extended out of the Zeneca property from years of spills in that area of Lot One and Zeneca.  We can probably look for those to be on the UC property too.

DR. ESPOSITO:  I had a question for you, Steve.  Could you comment on the possibility of the reaction between sulfuric acid and beryllium oxide of the Zeneca study to yield beryllium sulfate, which is among the more toxic beryllium compounds?

MR. LINSLEY:  Okay.  One of things that I didn't discuss was on the Zeneca property itself. There used to be a plant to produce sulfuric acid from iron pyrite.  And that was then demolished and the cinders from that spread over a large area to fill in the shoreline.  And the cinders are still leaching, to this day, sulfuric acid.  So if the beryllium did end up getting out of the area from the area where it had been machined or melted in, I guess it is Lot Two?
MS. PADGETT:  Lot Three. 

MR. LINSLEY:  Lot Three.  And then got down into that area where the cinders are, there could be a reaction of the sulfuric acid with the    either beryllium metal or beryllium oxide in forming any number of salts.  A typical common compound that is seen there, for instance, in the water, the groundwater, is ferrous sulfate, which is, you know, basically from the iron pyrite becoming mixed with the sulfuric acid.  So it is possible that beryllium sulfate could have also formed, but nobody is able to determine that as a distinctive species. 

DR. ESPOSITO:  Isn't it true that the assumption that the beryllium is principally beryllium oxide is only because it arrived there as beryllium oxide for use in the smelter when its current state in the ground is completely unknown? 

MR. LINSLEY:  That is correct.  It has got to be something besides metal.  It is probably either an oxide sulfate or some other sort of salt like that.

DR. ESPOSITO:  We have two minutes for more questions from the CAG, and then we are going to break and we will resume with public comment after the break.

MS. ABBOTT:  I wonder    it makes me very nervous that there is this unknown    there are probably pollutants continuing to come into this offshore area that is not being tested or anything and you know, heading out into the Bay.  And I wonder if either the Toxics Committee or the CAG Executive Committee would consider writing a letter to a regulatory    another regulatory agency, and I don't know exactly which one it would be, you know, possibly the Water Board, but I don't know maybe it is the Army Corps of Engineers whose problem it is these waters of these United States.  I mean, somebody has to be testing this stuff.  Somebody needs to be out there and doing it.  And maybe we need to get on that one.

DR. ESPOSITO:  I think that is a very good question because the studies that were done earlier of the effects on all of the animals and worms and stuff that we talked about, that study has recently been published in referee journals to show that there are amphibians and worms and all kinds of critters, reproductive and endocrine damage.  So it has come of age.

MR. ROBINSON:  We did make a decision as the CAG to more or less channel this in the state system under CEQA and not under NEPA and both federal agencies.  But it could be Fish and Game under the State.

MS. ABBOTT:  Have we written a letter?  Can we do that?

MR. ROBINSON:  Yes.  We could.  But I think we would want to direct it to CEQA.  But, yeah, it is a great idea.

MS. ABBOTT:  How do we make a motion? 

MR. BLUM:  Second.

MR. ROBINSON:  All in favor?  Any opposed?  Pass.

DR. ESPOSITO:  How long is the break? 

MR. ROBINSON:  Ten minutes.

DR. ESPOSITO:  Ten minutes and then we will resume the comments from the public on the presentations.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  Please return at 8:25.

(Recess.)

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  On the agenda we concluded the major presentations of the Toxics Committee.  And we have a period now that I would like to suggest we meld any final Q&A from the Toxics Committee with the open public comment period if that works all right with Dr. Esposito and the rest.

DR. ESPOSITO:  Great.

MS. WALLIS:  I do know at the beginning, at least one member of the audience was identified as wanting to take a few minutes for some comments right now, and I will call on Mr. Minault if he is ready to do that.  And then we will take any additional questions or comments from the audience.  Thank you.

MR. MINAULT:  I will stand here so I don't have my back to anybody.  It is a pleasure to be here again.  I am Paul Minault.  I represent Allied Propane, and once again I want to commend the work of the CAG and DTSC on the site and express our appreciation for the funding of the CAG by Cherokee Simeon Ventures.  

Tonight we speak in support of the CAG's letter of December 2nd to Gary Butner, chief of DTSC's radiological health branch, urging DTSC to fully resolve any questions regarding radionuclide contamination in soil and groundwater in the Harborfront Tract. 

As noted in the CAG's letter, and I should say we are going to specifically talk here about Allied's property, we have some concerns about that.  As noted in the CAG's letter in 2005, a groundwater sample from the old supply well on Allied's property was purported to contain 126 Picocuries of Uranium 238.  Just to understood what that number means, that is six times the maximum contaminant level, 170 times the residential preliminary remediation goal, 460 times the background level in local groundwater.  And while the report questioned the validity of the analysis, and we understand that there may be problems with that, nevertheless we are shocked that Mr. Butner proposed to simply ignore this extraordinary analytical result and essentially walk away.  

The consequences of doing so could be profound for Mr. Teaderman.  He would be left having to explain this analytical result to his employees, to his prospective purchasers, and to future lenders.  And Mr. Butner doesn't really explain how Mr. Teaderman would be able to do that.  The sampling result may well be an error and an anomaly.  But it is still a serious problem for Mr. Teaderman.  And DTSC should simply not walk away and leave it for him to solve on his own.  

I think the thinking around, perhaps, this analytical result was maybe the thinking that you would have on a large defense site.  But this is a report that is from a neighboring property.  It was found by DTSC and it needs to be solved by DTSC.  And if it was an analytical error, fine.  We need to know that.  If there is, indeed, ground level contamination in the deeper level and that well is screened to 90 feet, which is 30 feet deeper than the other wells in the area, if there is deeper contamination we need to know that.  But one way or the other, we need to have this cleaned up, resolved, so that the problem is not a lingering problem for Mr. Teaderman.  Thank you.

MS. WALLIS:  Additional questions, comments during this public comment period?  Dr. Esposito? 

DR. ESPOSITO:  I will make a comment.  I would like to make a specific comment regarding Mr. Minault's talk.  At an earlier meeting we recommended to DTSC that three additional wells be advanced in the area of that older well so that sampling for radioactive material could be done at three different levels.  Rather than trying to rehabilitate the old well, which is likely silty and muddy, and then we could have a final answer to the issue you raised, but to place those three wells at three different depths, 30, 60, 90, whatever is appropriate, in the vicinity of the old well.  Thank you.  And we share your concern.  

MS. WALLIS:  Questions, comments for this public comment period?  

MR. ROBINSON:  We have someone, another person to make a statement.  

DR. ESPOSITO:  Mr. Smith?  Steve Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Hi.  I am Steve Smith.  I have Smith & Company right next to Allied Propane.  We make epoxy products.  I first met Russ Pitto about four years ago.  Nice fellow.  He told me Simeon was planning on developing this property and he wanted to be fair with everybody.  They never had to relocate businesses before, and he wanted to do everything that was fair to make everybody whole, pay fair value for the land, relocation, building new buildings, all this, and I thought, gee, this is a really nice guy.  

It was some months later that I had a visit from Ted Pugh who worked for Simeon.  And he sort of chatted me up, you know, "You are willing to take our offer, right?  Your ancestors aren't buried on the land?  We'll find something reasonable, right?"  I said, "Well, yeah.  I suppose."  I wasn't sure where this was going.

He said, "Well, you know, if you don't we'll just have the City take your land by eminent domain."  And I said Ohh, okay.  Well, that was    I got a witness.  I am not making this up.  So time went by.  The doomsday process didn't seem to happen.  Things just slowly moved on as they have for the last few years.  It came up back then, what is land worth, what is my land worth.  What is it going to cost to buy new land somewhere else.  Well, I looked around and land seemed to be worth about eight bucks a foot, maybe ten, about a half a million dollars an acre for industrial land.  

Okay.  It came to my attention recently from Sherry Padgett that the State, DTSC, had twice refused to include in the surrounding property    I'm sorry, let me say this again.  They had refused to include in the remediation plan for the Zeneca property, the surrounding property.  Now, we have got hazardous waste and stuff leaking out of this site and contaminating to varying degrees all of the surrounding property.  I think there are about 65 acres they planned to build on, and there’s maybe 30 acres of other businesses surrounding that.  

So what is our property worth?  Well, it is worth what a willing buyer would pay a willing seller. Who would buy this land?  Nobody would buy this land.  It suddenly came to me.  By refusing to include the surrounding property in the remediation plan for the Zeneca site, DTSC had by fiat, set all of our property values at zero.  We don't need to have our property appraised.  It is worth zero.  It is worth absolutely nothing because nobody would buy it.  Well, I began to fume.  And then it hit me.  Wait a minute.  I know someone that would buy our property.  Cherokee Simeon.  They’re building 1300 units of residential property on this land, this 65 acres.  Russ Pitto told me back about four years ago they planned on spending    I think he said they bought the land for 50 million, they were going to spend another 50 mil on remediation.  That was 100.  They would sell it to the sub developers for 200, 250 mil.  The sub developers would build all their nice buildings and sell it to the public for 500, 550 million.  

Okay.  So that 65 acres then was worth $200 to $250 million.  Now we allow something for inflation, the economic ups and downs, and it would probably be another four years before this finally gets on the market.

MS. WALLIS:  I am sorry to interrupt.  We need to wrap it up in the interest of time.  

MR. SMITH:  I am very close.  So what is this land worth?  About $5 million an acre to Cherokee Simeon.  But DTSC has made them a gift of this which they can pick up for whatever they want.  If I don't want their offer, the City of Richmond will take it by eminent domain.  Okay.  So that was nice.

MS. WALLIS:  Please give us your closing sentence and then, I am sorry, we have to move on.  

MR. SMITH:  My closing sentence is that there ought to be a law against it.  And one of my customers, by pure coincidence, called me today and told me    and, by the way, he works for DTSC, but I am not going to tell you which office.  He said that there is a law against this.  Under the Federal Brownfields Act of 2004, which California promulgated the law in 2007, there is protection for us and Cherokee Simeon, where DTSC specifically, cannot refuse to include the surrounding lands.  He said that there is supposed to be an AAI report, All Appropriate Information, that covers remediation to adjacent properties, something like that, and any registered environmental assessor can file an incident report, meaning a complaint, with DTSC if this wasn't done.  And it hasn't been done.  And so there is a remedy for getting all of the surrounding land included in DTSC's remediation plan.  That's what I wanted to tell you.  Thank you.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you very much.

MS. COOK:  Can I respond to that, or do you not have time? 

DR. ESPOSITO:  We have time.

MS. WALLIS:  Quick response from Ms. Cook.

MS. COOK:  I hope it is quick.  I am going to    in addition to your comment I am going to respond to a comment that you made last week.  And I have actually said this a number of times.  By definition, which is the definition of the site which is cited in the federal requirement as well as the state because we make reference to the state, the site is defined as to where the property with contamination exists and where it has migrated to.  

So when you made your presentation tonight to discuss the areas where solvent contamination is moving off the property, that will be covered as part of the document.  I do not have a legal basis to sit down here and decide to include your property because, one, I don't have any documentation that says there is any contamination on your property.  If you do have documentation, I’d like to see it.  But I don't have any documentation to say that it is there, that it has any remediation or contamination that has to be addressed and, as such, would be then folded into a document that is describing    for all practical purposes, it says, "This is your piece of property.  It has contamination, and you are hereby obligated to clean it up."  My department, by no fiat, has zeroed out any of your property values.  I mean, I have not.  And to accuse the state of doing that    

MR. SMITH:  I am within the block of it, right next to it.  No one is going to buy that land or Stan's or the other property.  There are documented plumes under a lot of that property.  Not mine that I know of, but a lot of my neighbors.  Are you going to include all that in your remediation plan?  Sherry tells me no. 

MS. COOK:  We have as part of the documentation and investigation that we are doing for the business park area, we are preparing a report documenting the investigation that is there.  It goes to the whole issue.  It is not Cherokee's responsibility or Zeneca or Stauffer's responsibility to be held liable for picking up the tab for cleaning up a plating shop operation.  

MR. SMITH:  I am not a plating shop.

MS. COOK:  I know you are not, but that is part of the property there.  That is going to be picked up by the state.  The state is going to pick that up.  

MR. SMITH:  Let's leave the plating shop to one side.  It is entirely a separate thing.

MS. COOK:  But it is within the area that you are asking    you are actually demanding that the state department include in a decision.  Please, we are obligated to live by the law.  And you know what the definition of "site" is.  And by definition of "site," it is where the contamination exists and where it migrates from and to.  

MR. SMITH:  Sherry tells me twice over the last year and a half you refused to include the surrounding property in your remediation plan.

MS. COOK:  It is going to be in a plan.  It is not going to be in the Zeneca plan unless it is part of the solvent plumes that are migrating off of it.  

MR. SMITH:  There are many coming from there.

MS. COOK:  Yes.  If there are properties that have to be remediated they will be handled under different remediation selection documents.  

MR. SMITH:  Oh.  When will that be please?   

MS. COOK:  We are laying out the report that outlines the evaluation and the discussion.  But if you do not have contamination on the property, I can't do anything with (inaudible) your property.  I can tell you right now the real estate economic thing has fallen through.  

MR. SMITH:  Sure.  

MS. COOK:  As I have also done in the previous meetings, I asked to talk to any of the real estate transaction people who are making these generic claims.  No one has ever provided to the Department any names of any of these individuals.  Okay.  I hope that was...

MR. BLUM:  I have a small question.  If there is a property in the Harborfront Tract that was owned by Zeneca, through the '90s...

MS. WALLIS:  I'm sorry.  Please speak into the microphone.

MR. BLUM:  Sorry.  I thought I had a loud voice.  I guess not.  If there is a property in the Harborfront Tract that was owned by Zeneca up through the '90s, would that be included or could it be included in those plans?  

MS. COOK:  Only if the Department has the permission and shows there is contamination on those properties.  Okay.  I know that you brought up the eminent domain process.  That is not a process I am going to speak to.  

MR. SMITH:  You don't need to speak to that.

MS. COOK:  All right.

MS. WALLIS:  We have a request from Ms. Padgett to speak.  And we are about half an hour behind schedule.

MS. PADGETT:  I want to be sure I heard correctly what you said, Barbara.  If there is evidence of volatile organic compound plumes leaving the Zeneca Cherokee property into surrounding property, regardless of what that surrounding property is, or who owns it, then it will be included in the Feasibility Study and Remedial Action Workplan.  Is that correct?

MS. COOK:  Let me repeat it back to make sure we are both discussing the same thing.

MS. PADGETT:  Yes.

MS. COOK:  If by investigation of the Cherokee    the Zeneca property that exists, Lots One, Two, and Three, or even the Southeast parcel, and we will get to that, if those have contamination that have been shown to move off the property, whether it is groundwater, whether it was soil contamination that moved, whatever it ends up being, by definition of the site in the federal and state requirements that document would have to include those areas.

MS. PADGETT:  What document includes those areas? 

MS. COOK:  That would be the Remedial Investigation report, the Feasibility Study, and the remedy selection document would have to, too.  They may be using information that has been generated    that Weiss has generated to fold into the Feasibility Study, but if it has been determined they are the source of the contamination, then they have to include it.

MS. PADGETT:  And is there a possibility that the evaporation ponds have some data relating to VOCs as well?

MS. COOK:  Honestly, I don't remember.  I mean, you know, the FS and the RAP that is going to be done are only for Lot One, Two, and Three.  The chemical evaporation ponds, as is the Southeast parcel, are not part of that document.

MS. PADGETT:  Right, right.  Thank you.  So I think we are able to conclude that if DTSC believes that volatile organic compounds have migrated off the Zeneca Cherokee property in the groundwater, then those areas will be included in the Feasibility Study and the Remedial Action Workplan? 

MS. COOK:  Yes.

MS. PADGETT:  Thank you.

MS. COOK:  The Department does, but as part of the public comment period that information can be    I'm sorry.  The question was who makes that determination.  The Department does, and if people don't agree with our assessment, they can provide us comments as part of the formal public comment period and we have an obligation to respond to those comments. 

MS. WALLIS:  I believe that brings us to the end of our public comment period unless I hear otherwise from the group.  Which would mean to move along to the CAG elections.  Originally there were 40 minutes schedule for this.  We are at 8:45, so it doesn't seem likely that we will adjourn at our usual 9:00 o'clock.  So suggestions? 

MR. ROBINSON:  I wanted to make a motion that we go 15 minutes over.  Is there a second?   

MR. SCHWAB:  Second.

MR. ROBINSON:  All in favor?  All opposed?  We are going over.  Thank you.  Before we go to the CAG officer elections, I wanted to start off    it says Executive and Nominations Committee.  I would like to start off with a potential nomination.  We have    would you like to go  

MS. ABBOTT:  I just think we are putting the cart before the horse.  Could you just explain what we are doing here?  

MR. ROBINSON:  Yes, right.  That is what I am going to do.  We have with us tonight someone who I hope has expressed interest in joining the CAG.  Her name is Jovanka   We are having a debate up here.

MS. PADGETT:  It is premature.

MR. ROBINSON:  It is premature, but I think we want to set the wheels in motion because we can do two things at once.  We can accept the potential nomination, and we can also work with DTSC to help us work out our bylaw issue so that if we need to make an amendment we can.  All in favor of that?  Is that accurate?

MS. ABBOTT:  I just think we need a little discussion first before there is a nomination.  I think we need it. 

MR. BLUM:  We don't know what is being nominated or asked.

MS. ABBOTT:  I think it would be better    can I say it?   

MR. ROBINSON:  Please do.  You are doing it anyway.  So here.

MS. ABBOTT:  Sorry.  We do    we have had a Nominations Committee that was separate from the Bylaws Committee that is separate from the officers Nomination Committee.  So there are three different committees.  There is the CAG Membership Committee.  All right. There is a Nominating Committee for elections, and there is a Bylaws Committee.  All right.  And in our bylaws we have got a very structured membership criteria that was based on    largely based on trying to represent the community, which has been hard for us to fulfill, meaning getting people from certain communities involved.  And it was also designed to reflect the community as a whole in terms of the demographics.  

We have, I think    we do need to amend our bylaws if we are going to do changes in our process, because there is a process delineated in the bylaws.  But Joe does have a suggestion of a different way to go forward with this.  And I just wanted to clarify a little bit why it is a little murky.  Does that help?

MS. PADGETT:  Can I add something?  

MR. ROBINSON:  Go ahead.

MS. PADGETT:  The original bylaws membership description was developed from    and it came out of the original four member team that put together the original 27 member CAG.  And Ethel, bless her, and our    a representative from the prior mayor's office and a representative from Loni Hancock's office, the four of us got together and we hammered this out over a period of several months with the help of Diane Fowler.  

And the 27 members partly came from the neighborhood surrounding the site, and we made sure that we had representatives from different government agencies as well as business, and we wanted to be sure that it represented the demographics of Richmond as well as Seaport.  So it was of our own making, this representation, as long as we represented Richmond.  

So I don't think going back to look at where the members come from is going to be an issue because it is our own document.  And it is our own membership.  And then we can work with DTSC to ensure that they agree that it is still representative of the community as a whole.  

MS. MORRIS:  What is the issue? 

MS. PADGETT:  The question is   

MS. ABBOTT:  The issue is that there are bylaws and we’re not
MR. ROBINSON:  Speak to the issue in the bylaws that you have a problem with.

MS. PADGETT:  The potential members, the potential member pool is broader than the specific member representations that we have.  So we have 27 slots.  They have to come from specific locations or represent certain populations.  And we have a potential pool of candidates that is broader than that.  They don't fit neatly into one of those 27 

MS. MORRIS:  Where do they fit? 

MS. PADGETT:  That is the question and that’s what we have to figure
MS. ABBOTT:  And I think this potential nominee might fit within one of these categories.  So that is not the entire question.  There is also a whole process, though, that hasn’t   we have to amend the bylaws or we can put this over one month.  Okay.

DR. ESPOSITO:  I just would give you an example.  I don't fit into any of the categories.

MS. ABBOTT:  Yes you do.  You are representing an environmental group.

DR. ESPOSITO:  Oh.  Thank you.

MS. MORRIS:  There seems to be an underlying issue that is not being expressed here. 

MAYOR MCLAUGHLIN:  Let me see, my understanding   I agree with Iris.  It is kind of confusing what is happening here.  From based on the agenda item, CAG officer elections, and based on what I heard Tarnel talking about and trying to figure it out, I think there are two separate issues.  One is the CAG has to    it is time    it is our time of year again to elect    nominate and elect officers again, which is the Chair and the Secretary and the Vice Chair.  So that is one issue.  The other thing is membership.  We want to bring in members to the CAG, and that way we   they have to fit into certain categories, and we could alter those categories.  

MS. MORRIS:  Aren't those two separate issues?  Deal with the CAG this evening and deal with the other thing after that.

MS. PADGETT:  Good idea Iris.  

MS. MORRIS:  We need to map it out. 

MS. PADGETT:  I think you are nominated.  

MS. MORRIS:  I don't know what you are talking about.

MS. PADGETT:  I think it is a great idea.

MS. WALLIS:  I would like to jump in and take that suggestion to go immediately to the election of CAG officers.  There is a ballot that has been developed, and I don't know, Mr. Robinson, do you have the copies?  

MR. ROBINSON:  I do have it.  

MS. MORRIS:  I have an announcement to make.  I didn't comply with the directive in my email that said if I got the email I was being considered for something.

MS. WALLIS:  We will talk about the criteria.  And I will    these names represent only what I believe Ms. Graves was able to circulate and get a response by a certain date in November.  So    

MS. GRAVES:  It includes everybody that didn't decline.

MS. WALLIS:  Certainly if one sees one's name and chooses to decline the exceptional opportunity, then one certainly has an opportunity to do that at this meeting.  And also if one sees an office for whom one wants to suggest an additional name, am I correct in that, that can be added at this time as well.  

So I thought just to kind of speed this along, we can just take each office individually and look at the candidates as a starting place that are on this list, give people a chance to decline, if they choose, and to suggest additional names.  And then we'll give any opportunity for anyone to speak on their own behalf.  Let's start with the top of the list, or the bottom of the list?
DR. ESPOSITO:  The top.

MS. WALLIS:  The top of the list is for Chair.  And there are two names currently listed, the incumbent, Mr. Robinson, and then Mr. Schwab.  I am going to write them up here    does anyone decline to be considered of those two?  So I am going to put them up here.  You don't have ballots, so I want to put these up so you can keep track.  Any interested people in the audience?  And are there any other nominations to the office of Chair before we give those two candidates a chance to say a word or two about their candidacy?  Any other nominations?  And is there anyone who can say in one sentence, or two at the most, what is the main responsibility of the Chair, the role of the Chair?  Can anyone offer that?

MR. ROBINSON:  We have something.

MR. SCHWAB:  We usually have the official sheet here someplace.

MS. WALLIS:  Is there a quick summation that you can offer?

MR. SCHWAB:  Sure.  There’s two paragraphs in    this is pulled from our bylaws that describe the role of the Chair.  There’s four bullet points to summarize it.  The first is to consult and coordinate with all participants in the process as required.  Second, have primary responsibility for the CAG to accurately state and reach our goals and remain true to our mission.  The third is to convene, participate in, and be the lead on the Executive Committee meetings which, again, take place in between normal monthly meetings like this one.  And finally, to ensure that all voices are heard at our CAG meetings.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  So would you, Mr. Robinson, like to say anything about your candidacy to the group?

MR. ROBINSON:  You bet.  I thought we were going to have more time.  I will try to keep it as brief as I can.  I have a few things to say.  Dan was also nominated for Chairperson.  Do I support Dan for the person?  Yes, I do.  In fact, I support any CAG member who wants to participate in any way.  This election is not a "vote for me" type opportunity that has members as adversaries.  The important thing to decide is what will make the CAG more effective and more dynamic.  When I was elected as Chairperson last year we had gone through some tough times.  The CAG had experienced some dissension and there was a level of turmoil in our meetings.  We thought that the situation had grown to the point where perhaps members of the public might not continue to attend.  My goal was to establish a structure in our meetings so we could be as effective as possible.  

With all of your help, I think we are there.  Our meetings have the structure to allow free and open discourse.  So now what do we do with that structure?  The obvious next step is to increase both CAG membership and increase our effectiveness.  We need to be more dynamic and the next Chair should be selected based on their ability to inspire new and existing members to participate more.  

Regarding new membership, the public participation specialist Yvette LaDuke has offered her assistance to the CAG in an outreach program that would target neighborhood groups as a source of future members.  Whoever is the Chair would have to be actively involved in that process both in structuring presentation and attending outreach efforts.  

This should not be just limited to the Chair.  Other members who are not technically oriented can participate in this way to bolster CAG effectiveness.  When Dan and I spoke on the phone recently, we both conceded that we are not technically oriented.  Some of the scientists in the group speak of CHHSLs, and I wouldn't know a CHHSL from a hacksaw.  I have to find another way to work on the CAG’s behalf.  And that gave me an idea.  

During the CEQA 101 presentation, Peter Weiner's associate made an orderly and articulate layout of what the public could expect when CEQA was done correctly.  In a moment of deja vu of past CAG meetings, I admit I lost my temper thinking that the CAG would never get, for this project, what was the spirit of CEQA, a robust review of an action, public involvement, and protection of the community at large.  We were closing the corral gate after the horse was out.  What we have for Zeneca is CEQA in reverse or CEQA sideways, and I believe it poses future problems for the CAG and the community.  

Someone mentioned we will get an EIR in the future.  However, there is still a lot of opportunity for mishap.  What would be the description of the project?  Will it simply be the development and the cleanup mentioned in the site history?  Will cleanup be part of the cumulative impacts?  Will site cleanup or earth disturbance be considered a potentially significant impact when the CEQA checklist is filled out and the EIR prepared?  Will the CAG's own work be turned against the community, in a sense, if the lead CEQA agency states that due to the CAG's involvement and work, the site can no longer pose a significant impact.  

I won't be comfortable with any of that until the public scoping process defines the project and sets the scope in the direction of the EIR.  Toward that end, what I plan to do in my own personal action plan, whether or not I am the Chair, is to prepare a compendium of the CAG's work to date that would include all of our reviews and correspondence with the finding of the CAG's work including a summary of each action and each document.  Of course that would include what oversights or errors we believe were made during the singular action.  This would not just be for discretionary items subject to CEQA but also to ministerial ones where DTSC is compelled to act, simply follow the law.  

This compendium, perhaps sounds easier than I just said to assemble, but I will be looking for collaborators and contributors from the CAG.  Perhaps you can find a project for yourself.  In closing, I would like to thank you all for the privilege to serve you as your Chairperson in 2008.  I would also like to thank Cherokee for its involvement in the process and for funding the CAG.  Especially noteworthy is that the start of Cherokee's work at the site came well after the CEQA shortcuts made by the Planning Department.  When I researched online work that Cherokee has undertaken, it is clear that they have made great strides toward effective brownfield redevelopment that can help economically challenged communities like Richmond.  

Steve Duran's Redevelopment Agency is also another strong agency for Richmond.  Steve is doing a very difficult job that's been complicated by the shortcuts taken by the Planning Department.  And unless it is started by shortcuts I support Redevelopment's work because it means jobs and revitalization for Richmond.  It sounds a little bit like the goals I want for the CAG, more effectiveness and being more dynamic.  If the CAG can convince city government that the CEQA shortcuts are not in their best interests, we have made a solid contribution.  

I also want to thank UC for its nascent involvement in the process, and we look to establish a sound working relationship with the University.  Just as Diane Fowler said when she was saying goodbye, I too have a great deal of admiration for each of you making all the more honor to serve as your Chair.  In my opinion, I think it is periodically a good thing to mix things up for a group like ours, and selecting a new Chair would definitely help in that regard.  Either way it is time for more involvement and more effectiveness from all of us.  Again, thank you.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  Mr. Schwab?   

MR. SCHWAB:  Thank you.  I don't really have a prepared thing to say except that when I got involved with the CAG, which was at the beginning, it's been more than three years, I had no idea what I was getting myself into.  And the more I find out about what is happening in this city and around these properties and with you, the people who are working on this, the more important it seems to me.  There is no question that this is vital work for the City of Richmond and for all of us who live here and choose to live here.  

I am a native of the Bay Area.  I have lived in Richmond for 12 years now.  I am not planning to go anywhere.  And the more I learn the more I recognize how much work there is that I want to be involved in.  And to date you have seen less of me, and it has more to do with my schedule around my professional endeavors and other things than it has to do with my interest in this work. 

But I came to the realization recently, just in the last few weeks, that this matters to me enough that I am willing to put my name forward and I am willing to devote what it takes to help coordinate this effort.  Like Joe, I am not technical expert.  And I don't think that is where you are going to find me making a contribution.  More it is going to be on the direction we take and how we work together and how we divvy up the unending tasks that are associated with this work.  So that we are really making a contribution to the community far beyond the great amount we already have.  That’s it.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you very much.  Let's move on to the office of Vice Chair.  I think we are going to hear whatever statements they are and then give CAG members a chance to cast Chair ballots.  All right?  And I believe the process will be Ms. Graves and perhaps our public participation specialist for DTSC will go and count the ballots while we conclude the business of the meeting.  Do I have that right?  Okay.  

So nominees for the office of Vice Chair.  And the main responsibilities of the Vice Chair, could someone summarize in a sentence or two?  Is that, again, in the bylaws? 

MR. SCHWAB:  Yes.  The Vice Chair's roles or responsibilities are to, A, act as the chairperson when the Chair is unavailable, B, support the Chair and the Executive Committee in meeting the CAG's mission, C, coordinate and consult with the entire CAG committee, D, generally in the non-profit world, the Vice Chair is seen as a person that is being prepared to take on the responsibility of the Chair on a temporary or permanent basis as required.  That’s it.

MS. WALLIS:  And the nominees listed are Eric Blum, Dr. Henry Clark, Whitney Dotson, the incumbent.  Both Dr. Clark and Mr. Dotson are not here this evening.  David Kim, Joe Robinson, and Dan Schwab.  Would anyone like their name removed from consideration for the Vice Chair?  Mr. Kim?

MR. KIM:  I don't know how my name got up there. 

MR. SCHWAB:  You have to be careful what you volunteer for.

MS. WALLIS:  Would anyone like to nominate an additional candidate for the role?  All right.  While I am getting these names up here, would Mr. Blum    again, Dr. Clark, and Mr. Dotson are not here    would Mr. Blum, Mr. Robinson, or Mr. Schwab care to say anything about their candidacies for Vice Chair? 

MR. BLUM:  I will go first since I am first on the list.  You stole my thunder, David.  I was going to speak on your behalf, David, and recommend you for the job.  So I am sorry that you are removing your name.  I also think the other people left on the list, Joe and Dan, I think the two of you would make a fantastic team, so I am not going to remove my name in case you guys remove yours.  But I would support you guys in any way that I could.  And I think that you would make a fabulous team.

MS. WALLIS:  Any additional statement from Mr. Robinson or Mr. Schwab about the Vice Chair?  Okay.  So, then, this is the final list of candidates for Vice Chair.  Moving on to the office of Secretary, and    

MS. MORRIS:  I want to remove my name.

MR. SCHWAB:  You haven't heard the job.  

MS. MORRIS:  I am technologically challenged.  I get the emails, and I don't know what to do with this.  I came to the library, but I didn't see you.  I was going to do a walk in and tell you I don't have time.  I have too many obligations now to take on the responsibility.  I am honored that my name was mentioned.

MS. WALLIS:  Ms. Morris, your declination is noted.  We will let Mr. Schwab say a sentence or two about the major responsibilities of the Secretary.

MR. SCHWAB:  The Secretary shall be responsible for keeping records of the CAG actions including overseeing the taking of minutes at CAG meetings, sending out announcements, distributing copies of the minutes and the agenda for each CAG member and ensuring that the CAG records are being maintained.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  So with the removal of Ms. Morris' name, we are left with the incumbent, Carolyn Graves.  Would anyone like to nominate another candidate for the roster?  I don't hear any other nominations.  All right.  Then, Ms. Graves, would you like to say anything to the group about your candidacy?

MS. GRAVES:  In the interest of time, they know what I have been doing in the past.  

MS. MORRIS:  An excellent job.

(Applause.)

MS. WALLIS:  And the last office we will be discussing is the member at large, and, again, Mr. Schwab, could you just explain to the group?

MR. SCHWAB:  Well, I can read.  The Member-at-Large is the newest position making five members of the Executive Committee.  The position was added to ensure that if needed, there was a tie breaker vote, if necessary in the monthly meetings.  The Member-at-Large acts as an ombudsman for the CAG and outreach actions in the CAG and Executive Committee.  It also coordinates with and provides support to the Executive Committee. 

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  Just for clarification, when you mentioned five members, we are only talking about four elections here.  The fifth member is the Chair of the Toxics Committee who is not involved in this election process.  So this Member-at-Large is, indeed, the fifth member of the Executive Committee.

MR. SCHWAB:  The Toxics Committee chairperson is a member of the Executive Committee.  But that person is elected by the Toxics Committee itself, not by the CAG as a whole.  So the Toxics Committee chairman is not on your ballot tonight.  The Toxics Committee will hold a separate election in an upcoming meeting and then report to the CAG in January as to who the chair will be.  It is currently Dr. Esposito.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.

MR. SCHWAB:  You are welcome.

MS. WALLIS:  So the two people that appear currently on the ballot for Member-at-Large are Sherry Padgett and Whitney Dotson, who is not here with us tonight.  So Ms. Padgett is here.  This is her opportunity to remove herself if she wants to or, if anyone would want to make an additional nomination.

MS. PADGETT:  I am not going to remove my name.  What I would like to say is that I take the role very seriously, and I average at least one meeting a week, sometimes two.  And I average two or three walks a month with members of the community around the site.  I meet people, talk to them about the site, and do a Powerpoint.  I go to neighborhood council meetings, I go to individual group meetings.  I meet one individual or whole groups of people.  And I do a great deal of reading.  

I try to keep up on what is going on in the entire Richmond Southeast Shoreline area.  And I can't remember a time when I have turned down a meeting or a request to go out and talk about what we are doing here.  So I hope to continue in that role in the next year, and if any of you have ideas on how I might improve on that, I would really appreciate some feedback.  Thanks.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  So then it appears hearing no other nomination, the Member-at-Large nominees remain Sherry Padgett and Whitney Dotson.  So CAG members, please make sure your ballot reflects the names we have here on the poster sheets.  Does everyone have a ballot?  And this is your chance to please go ahead and vote.  If you wouldn't mind, I will ask Ms. LaDuke to come around and collect your ballots when you are finished.  Ms. LaDuke and Ms. Graves will then go into the Shimada room to do a quick tabulation, and report the results back to us.

MR. SCHWAB:  This is the point in which they sell the senate seat.

MS. WALLIS:  Let's move on.  Anything else about the election process while the votes are being counted?  Because we can conclude some of our wrap up business while that is going on.  Dr. Esposito? 

DR. ESPOSITO:  I would just like to remind everyone that the Tox Com meeting for December is a week from today.  And it will be in that room, the Shimada room at 7:00 p.m. 

MS. PADGETT:  Tarnel wanted to talk about meeting room changes.  Is that right?  Is now a good time to talk about that? 

MS. ABBOTT:  Sure.  I did talk to Steve a little bit because when we came in it was sort of under discussion about the fact that the City Council will be vacating this location and going back over to the Civic Center.  And Steve can talk about this.  And I will just briefly say that it sounds like we can stay in this room through May if we want to.  We could, however, move to the Bermuda Room in the auditorium sooner or to the room that is below that where the City Council chambers is going to be located.  It has a low ceiling.  I guess you don't like that.  I don't like that idea either.  

But, anyway, so we have got some options for the future, but for now we can actually continue to meet in this room.  And partly his suggestion of waiting until June to move is because the heater in the Bermuda room is not, maybe, what people would like.

MS. PADGETT:  What about the new City Council chambers?  Steve, why don't you...

MR. DURAN:  The schedule for the new City Council chambers is the first City Council meeting, presuming everything goes well, would be June, I think the 15th or 16th, whichever is a Tuesday, or maybe it is    so, anyway, I think that the first Tuesday in June would be here and the third Tuesday in June it would be there.  

So after that first City Council meeting, you know, the City Council chamber will be fully operational as well as the Bermuda Room.  My suggestion is we wouldn't move to the Bermuda Room sooner.  We can stay here, because one of the things we might be doing is replacing a boiler in the auditorium.  And remember when heat was a problem there in the cold months?  Certainly by next winter that would be a great place to meet, but this winter I think it would be best to stay here.

MS. ABBOTT:  Can we meet in the Council chambers? 

MR. DURAN:  Yeah.  It is going to be set up with chairs.  That is also a potential.

MS. ABBOTT:  In June? 

MR. DURAN:  In June.  After about mid June, yeah.  Potentially this is the second Thursday, right?  So we might miss June there.  I think we need    we don't have to decide now.  We can just play it by ear.  That is just general information because when we get there we might have to meet in the Bermuda Room once and the Council Chamber, but either room will work.

MS. WALLIS:  So in terms of just planning for it next month, so we can let our audience members know, the plan would be to resume in this location through May. Through May this will be the location for CAG meetings.  And there is one note.  In January, the second Thursday is January 8th.  So that is early in the month.  So January 8th will be the next CAG meeting, the same time.  6:30 in this room.  Ms. Padgett? 

MS. PADGETT:  I have another subject.  Are we finished with that one? 

MS. WALLIS:  Room location.

MS. PADGETT:  Earlier Iris suggested we move on to nominations, which we did.  Now I would like to go back and pick up a membership issues and find out if the Membership Committee or the Bylaws Committee needs to meet or get together on line or by phone or whatever to figure out what it is that needs to happen.  Does the Membership Committee need to get together to find out and determine if the bylaws need to be amended, or if there is a way for the potential pool of candidates that have put in their applications, do they meet the existing bylaws criteria?  If so, there is no reason for the Bylaws Committee to meet.  

MS. MORRIS:  May I ask what is questionable about the applicants in the pool? 

MS. PADGETT:  I guess there has been discussion from potential candidates who may or may not meet the criteria in the bylaws list.  So I think what we need is an application from all potential candidates that we can then compare to our bylaws and then we can resolve it.  So far I guess we don't have an application.

MR. BLUM:  Because if you do and that is a question, then perhaps the Bylaws Committee should meet, come back with a report, and tell us which areas.  You know, "We can't find anybody from the Coronado neighborhood," lay it out.

MS. PADGETT:  I think that is the Membership Committee that does that.  The Membership Committee can go away and   

MR. BLUM:  That's what I meant, the Membership Committee lets us know what it is.  

MR. ROBINSON:  Simultaneously, I think we should address the bylaws.

MAYOR MCLAUGHLIN:  Tarnel has been making up the Membership Committee.  Pablo is kind of on a leave of absence.  I was involved in that for a while, and I still can marginally be involved, but I have to say that my    I can't do as much work given the other tasks I have.  Perhaps    Tarnel, were you also a member of the Bylaws Committee? 

MS. ABBOTT:  Yes.

MAYOR MCLAUGHLIN:  Maybe since Tarnel had a foot in both committees    Dan was also in the Bylaws Committee?
MS. ABBOTT:  So were a lot of people.  A lot of people were on the bylaws. 

MAYOR MCLAUGHLIN:  I would like to make a motion that this come back next time with the suggestion of if there are potential new members that put in an application by that time, I think there has been a little outreach to people who are considering it.  And I know some of the bylaws say you have to be in a specific neighborhood, but there is also a possibility that there is a citizen action group or something that we could expand that.  And if they don't fit into that, we could potentially make another citizen action group member.  

And so some suggestions to come back next time by all those    I think Tarnel is clearly an active person in this discussion and anybody else who wants to join.

DR. ESPOSITO:  May I make a comment?  I am not aware of the fact of what the size of the pool is of people trying to join the CAG.  And the question that I am asking myself is if we    if there are individuals who would like to join the CAG who are well known to this entire group, do we have the right to grant a plenary indulgence and move on?  Because it seems to me that if I were a competent individual and I would be listening to this conversation, I would soon become discouraged.   

MS. PADGETT:  We just need an application.  Let's just cut to the chase.  We need an application.  We can figure out how to make it work, probably.  And we could move on.  We just need applications.

MR. ROBINSON:  We can make that an action item.   

MS. WALLIS:  The action item would be... 

MR. ROBINSON:  Working with DTSC   

MS. PADGETT:  We don't need an action item.

MS. WALLIS:  Ms. Graves and Ms. LaDuke have emerged from the vote counting room.  So I ask Ms. LaDuke to announce the results.  

MS. LADUKE:  Okay.  The Chair for the CAG is now going to be Dan Schwab.  And for Vice Chair we had a tie between Joe Robinson and Dan Schwab.  But since Dan is already the Chair, so we figured that Joe should be nominated Vice Chair since Dan is already the Chair.

MR. ROBINSON:  He takes a mandate with him.

MR. SCHWAB:  I am feeling very powerful now.  

MS. LADUKE:  For Secretary we had a unanimous vote for Carolyn Graves.  And then Member-at-Large is Sherry Padgett.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you.  I see, according to the agenda, Ms. Graves, not to put you back to work as Secretary so quickly after the election triumph, but there were approval minutes and any other wrap up activities.  

MS. GRAVES:  I think I have the minutes.  So is there a second?

MR. BLUM:  Second.  

MS. GRAVES:  All in favor?  Any opposed?  Okay.  So the minutes are approved, and continuing, there were a couple of question slips, but it is so late I think we'll wait on that until January.

MS. WALLIS:  And Mr. Robinson, any final    Mr. Robinson, I was going to adjourn the group with your permission.

MR. ROBINSON:  Yes.  Go ahead.

MS. WALLIS:  Thank you very much.  We'll see you on January 8th.  Happy holidays.  
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